1977

# Thelma Madsen and Diana Lynn Madsen v. State of Utah et al : Brief of Plaintiff-Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action by the wife and infant child of Thomas Madsen for his wrongful death. The Plaintiffs-Appellants claim that the Defendants-Respondents were negligent in their actions toward Thomas Madsen, thereby causing his death.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The trial court granted Defendants' motion to dismiss on the grounds that Plaintiffs' claim was barred by the Utah Governmental Immunity Act.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The Appellants seek to have the order dismissing Plaintiffs' complaint reversed and the case remanded to the

to the lower court for trial.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On March 1, 1974 Thomas B. Madsen was an inmate, incarcerated at the Utah State Prison at the point of the mountain. During some months prior to that date, Mr. Madsen had been repeatedly approached by prison officials and encouraged to undergo plastic surgery for a facial lift at the prison hospital. After numerous requests Mr. Madsen had consented to that operation which was performed on the morning of March 1, 1974. Prior to the operation Mr. Madsen was given a shot of morphine, and he received another morphine shot following the operation. For some time Mr. Madsen had suffered from a heart ailment which fact was known or reasonably could and should have been know to the prison officials.

After the operation, Mr. Madsen was placed in a hospital room to recover from the effects of the anesthesia and surgery. At approximately 6:00 or 6:30 p.m. of that day Mr. Madsen was discovered by another inmate by the name of Ron Bergeron to be having trouble breathing. Mr. Bergeron then went to the prison hospital medical technician and advised him that Mr. Madsen was having difficulty breathing and suggested that Mr. Madsen may need to go by way of ambulance to the University of Utah Medical Center for medical treatment. The medical technician, whose name is at this time unknown to appellants, responded that there was nothing wrong with Mr. Madsen that in fact, Mr. Madsen was a hypochondriac.

*Sponsored by the S.J. Quinney Law Library. Funding for digitization provided by the Institute of Museum and Library Services Library Services and Technology Act, administered by the Utah State Library.*  
*Machine-generated OCR, may contain errors.*

Approximately one hour later, another inmate working at the prison hospital at that time by the name of Thomas Brough observed Mr. Madsen to be having difficulty breathing to a critical extent. Mr. Brough then notified the prison medical technician, apparently, the same individual, that Mr. Madsen appeared to be in great difficulty and perhaps was dying. Approximately five minutes later between 7:30 and 8:00 p.m. the medical technician examined Mr. Madsen and then summoned an ambulance and notified the prison doctor. The technician also attempted to give Mr. Madsen oxygen. However, the oxygen tanks apparently were not functioning and would not fit through the door to where Mr. Madsen was. Approximately forty five minutes later the ambulance arrived and transported Mr. Madsen to the University of Utah Medical Center where he was pronounced dead on arrival.

An autopsy was later performed on the body of Thomas Madsen and the findings were basically that Thomas Madsen had suffered a heart attack while at the prison hospital facility and that the heart attack was the direct cause of death.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I.

THE UTAH GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY ACT IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL AS A VIOLATION OF THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES AND THE CONSTITUTION OF THE STATE OF UTAH, THEREFORE, THE COURT ERRED IN APPLYING IT IN THE PRESENT CASE.

A. UTAH CODE ANNOTATED § 63-30-10(10) IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL AS A DENIAL OF EQUAL PROTECTION OF THE LAW UNDER THE FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT OF THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES AND ARTICLE I, §24 OF THE CONSTITUTION OF THE STATE OF UTAH.

In order for a legislatively-enacted statute to meet the Constitutional test for validity, it is required that it apply to all persons within the class with which it seeks to deal equally, both upon the face of the statute itself and in application. Yick Wo v. Hopkins, 118 U. S. 356 (1886).

Article I, Section 24 of the Constitution of the State of Utah also incorporates such premise:

"All laws of a general nature shall have uniform operation."

It is Appellants' contention that Section 63-30-10(10) Utah Code Annotated, fails to meet those specified Constitutional requirements. Section 63-30-10(10) denies an action against the State by one who has suffered an injury as a result of an "incarceration". As a matter of application and operation in the present case, one injured in a prison hospital will be denied his claim, although, if he had been injured in any other government operated hospital in the State, he would have

been allowed access to the courts to prosecute his claim. Such is true though the functions and the risks inherent in the operation of both of the hospitals are the same. The result is a denial of equal protection of the law and a non-uniform operation of this law.

While Appellants concede that those incarcerated in a state prison have more limited rights than those who are not, one right must remain inviolate, even to prisoners, in the absence of a court-ordered execution--the right to life. That right is fundamental and guaranteed to all, whether incarcerated or not. In regards to application of the equal protection clause of the United States Constitution, the U. S. Supreme Court has adopted a rigorous policy of "strict scrutiny" in cases dealing with the restriction of a "fundamental right". Kramer v. Union Free School District, 282 Fed. Supp. 70 (E.D. N. Y. 1969). Such scrutiny must then be applied to the present case.

This Court has also established standards by which a legislative act should be judged when it applies unequally to persons in the same circumstances:

...to be unconstitutional the discrimination must be unreasonable or arbitrary. A classification is never unreasonable or arbitrary in its inclusion or exclusion features so long as there is some basis for the differentiation between classes or subject matters included as compared to those excluded from its operation, provided the differentiation bears a reasonable relation to the purposes to be accomplished by the act. State v. Mason, 94 Utah 501, 70 P. 2d, 923 (1938).

The classification must bear a reasonable relation to the purposes to be accomplished by the act. The object or purpose of the act is the touchstone for determining whether the act is constitutional or unconstitutional. State v. Mason, at 507. The same test is employed by the United States Supreme Court in determining a violation of the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment when a suspect classification is not involved. "A Century of Supreme Court adjudication under the Equal Protection Clause affirmatively supports the application of the traditional standard of review, which requires that the State's system be shown to bear some rational relationship to legitimate state purposes." San Antonio Independent School District v. Rodriguez, 411 U. S. 1, 93 S. Ct. 1278, 36 L. Ed. 2d 56 (1973).

The Supreme Court of Kansas recently applied these tests to the Kansas Governmental Immunity Act Brown v. Wichita State University, 217 Kan. 279, 540 P. 2d. 66 (1975).

"As the guardian of the principles embodied in the Constitutions, it is within our inherent power, and our duty, to determine the constitutionality of the legislation in question." Brown at 80.

The Kansas Court then went on to strike down the classification created by the State's legislators because the object of the statute-convenience-was not a rational basis for the classification and even if it was, it could not outweigh an individual's constitutional rights. In this regard, it said:

No doubt the absolute monarchs of the past, and the dictators of today, refused and still refuse to be charged with wrong, but that is no reason why our representative and democratic forms of government should be so classified. We think the rule was adopted in this country as a convenience to a sovereign people.

We do not subscribe to the belief that convenience is a pervasive legislative objective sufficient to totally deprive the appellants access to the courts. Convenience is completely unacceptable as a standard by which to balance the rights of the state. Convenience should not outweigh an individual's right to be compensated for actual damages sustained and injuries suffered. To hold convenience is a permissible legislative objective, sufficient to insulate the government from negligence, is to engage in incredulous reasoning, void of logic, which undermines the very principles upon which this nation was founded. Brown at 82,82.  
(Citations omitted)

In Kansas one injured by governmental entity was classified solely by the type of governmental entity involved. Their right to redress and remedies available, if any, were dependent solely upon this classification. Similar inequities are involved in the present case.

Legislative history and judicial opinion provide ample evidence that the purpose behind the statutory section in question here was to prevent prisoners from continually harassing official personnel with lawsuits and to prevent actions against the State for injuries inflicted by one inmate upon another. Senate Journal of 1965, pp. 136-37; Sheffield v. Turner, 21 Utah 2nd 314, 445 P. 2nd 367 (1968).

In application, the section in question allows a cause of action according to which class the prisoner falls in. If he is a prisoner who receives treatment within the prison hospital, then a cause of action for any injuries sustained as a result of that treatment is denied. If he is a prisoner who has received injuries as a result of treatment at another

hospital facility, his cause of action is preserved. Under close analyzation of the purposes of Section 63-30-10(10), it is Appellants' contention that there is no reasonable relation between such purposes and the classification which is imposed by the application of the Act. As such, the statute in question, Section 63-30-10(10), Utah Code Annotated, is in violation of the Constitution of the United States and the Constitution of the State of Utah and is, therefore, unconstitutional. Being unconstitutional, the lower Court erred in applying it to the present case.

B. PUBLIC POLICY DEMANDS THAT AN ENTITY BE RESPONSIBLE FOR ITS NEGLIGENT ACTS. THE UTAH GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY ACT IS CONTRARY TO SUCH POLICY AND SHOULD BE TOTALLY ABROGATED.

The Utah Governmental Immunity Act had its genesis in the English Common Law Doctrine of Sovereign Immunity. Many courts have stated that sovereign immunity was founded on the proposition that the "king could do no wrong." In reality, however, it was not that the king could do no wrong, he was just privileged to do wrong and not be held accountable for it in his own courts. In Driggs v. Utah State Teacher Retirement Board, 105 Utah 417, 142 P. 2d 657 (1943) the Utah Supreme Court, in an opinion by then District Judge Crockett criticized this foundation of sovereign immunity:

The idea that the King could do no wrong was merely a fictional concept without any righteous basis in law or logic. It arose out of the desire of the king and those holding favored positions under him to impose their will upon those



who were less privileged. This antiquated idea has certainly never had any place in American jurisprudence.

The more rational approach to the notion of sovereign immunity was indicated by Blackstone, 1 Bl. Comm. 241, 242: "The law ascribed to the king the attribute of sovereignty. He is a sovereign and independent within his own dominions, and he owes no kind of subjection to any other kind of potentate upon earth. Hence, it is that no suit or action can be brought against the king, even in civil matters, because no court can have jurisdiction over him; for all jurisdiction implies superiority of power.

It was thought an anomaly that the king should have jurisdiction over himself, and that he could be asked to make himself do something. In our government of three separate branches, this paradox does not exist. There is no reason why the judiciary in its proper function as an independent branch of the government should not be asked to adjudicate the rights of individuals against the other branches of the government, or even as against the judiciary itself. Driggs at 658.

Sovereign immunity was imported to America by the Massachusetts Supreme Court in Mower v. Inhabitants of Leicester, 9 Mass. 247 (1912). That court held that even though the town was incorporated, had a treasury out of which a judgment could be satisfied and had a means of taxation which could replenish the town's treasury; the town was immune from suit for its tortious wrongs, wrongfully citing the old English case, Russel v. Men of Devon, 100 Eng. Rep. 362, 2 T.R. 673 (1788) for support. The Russel case involved a suit against all the inhabitants of a country for damages occurring to Russel's wagon by reason of a bridge being out of repair. The Court disallowed

the action primarily on the grounds that there was no fund out of which any judgment could be paid and "it is better that an individual should sustain an injury than that the public should suffer an inconvenience". Russel at 363.

Commenting on this case the Minnesota Supreme Court said:

There is no mention of "the king can do no wrong", but on the contrary it is suggested that the Plaintiff sue the county itself rather than the individual inhabitants. Every reason assigned by the Court is born out of expediency. The wrong to Plaintiff is submerged in the convenience of the public. No moral, ethical, or rational reason for the decision is advanced by the Court except the practical problem of assessing damages against individual defendants..." It was on this shaky foundation that the law of governmental tort immunity was erected in Minnesota and elsewhere. Spanel v. Mounds View School District No. 621, 264 Minn. 279, 118 N.W. 2d 795, 197 (1962).

Some courts, including the Utah Supreme Court, have justified governmental immunity on these same grounds; see Hurst v. Highway Department, 16 Utah 2d 153, 397 P.2d 71 (1964). However, the statistical data simply does not support this fear that governmental functions would be curtailed by allowing citizens to sue their government. Even as early as 1959, it was apparent that this was not a rational basis for governmental immunity.

Figures actually compiled showing the claims experience in typical cities show that the spectre of the crippling judgment, as a deterrent to abrogation of procedural or substantive immunities, so far as not materialized in any great degree. The force of the "crippling judgment" may be vitiated by self insurance or commercial insurance. . . . So far as known, municipal insolvency proceedings in the federal courts have not occurred because of tort judgments.

David, "Tort Liability of Local Government:  
Alternatives to Immunity from Suit or Liability,"  
6 U.C.L.A. L. Rev. 1 (1959).

These original purposes of sovereign immunity; to protect the feudal lord from suit in his own court, to protect local government from the numerous feared suits, and to protect the state from feared insolvency, are contrary to one of the most fundamental principles of civilized society: that if a person or his property is wrongfully injured he should be able to seek reasonable compensation and relief from the wrongdoer. It is because the doctrine of sovereign immunity is contrary to this fundamental principle that the governmental proprietary distinction developed. This principle is designed to mitigate the harsh effects of sovereign immunity and allow relief in certain cases. However, the difficulty is in applying the distinction. Usually, the results are inconsistent and illogical, often arbitrary and harsh, as exception after exception developed to the rule that government could not be sued in governmental matters. Utah is no exception to this trend; history is replete with the Utah Court making fine distinctions which do not promote justice or the purpose of governmental immunity.

The Utah Supreme Court first recognized the doctrine in Gillmore v. Salt Lake City, 32 Utah 180, 89P. 714 (1907). That case involved an action for trespass to Plaintiff's property while police officers were searching the Jordan River for a dead body. In ruling against the Plaintiff the Court said, "It seems manifest that the city in any event was

engaged in the discharge of a public duty as agent of the sovereign state, its creator, . . . the City, in the absence of a special statute, cannot be held responsible for the acts of police officers, and certainly not strangers."

A year later the court recognized an exception to Gillmore. The Court held that a city, maintaining a water works system supplying water to its residents, acts in a proprietary capacity and is liable for any acts committed while supplying the water to the same extent as any private owner would be. Brown v. Salt Lake City, 33 Utah 222, 93 P.570 (1908).

From Brown and Gillmor to the present time, the Court has struggled with governmental immunity and its exceptions. The Court has held there is immunity in cases concerning: flood waters from a state constructed reservoir and canal<sup>1</sup>, operation of a fire truck on city streets,<sup>2</sup> injuries resulting from burns received from a school incinerator<sup>3</sup>, injuries from burns received in a community recreation area<sup>4</sup>, operation of a municipal golf course<sup>5</sup>, an airport waiting room<sup>6</sup>, sewer<sup>7</sup>, operation of a state owned gravel

---

<sup>1</sup>Wilkinson v. State, 42 Utah 483, 134 P.626 (1913).

<sup>2</sup>Rollow v. Ogden City, 66 Utah 475, 243 P.791 (1926).

<sup>3</sup>Bingham v. Board of Education of Ogden, 118 Utah 582, 223 P.2d 432 (1950).

<sup>4</sup>Ramirez v. Ogden City, 3 Utah 2d 102, 279 P.2d 463, (1955).

<sup>5</sup>Jopes v. Salt Lake County, 9 Utah 2d 297, 343 p.2d 728 (1959).

<sup>6</sup>Wade v. Salt Lake City, 10 Utah 2d 374, 353 P.2d 914 (1960).

<sup>7</sup>Cobiar v. Roy City, 12 Utah 2d 375, 366 P.2d 986

pit<sup>8</sup>, and maintenance of a sewage disposal system<sup>9</sup>.

During the same period that Court held there is no immunity in cases concerning: injuries resulting from the maintenance of public streets<sup>10</sup>; the maintenance of a public nuisance<sup>11</sup>, the maintenance of an attractive nuisance<sup>12</sup>, operation of bath houses and swimming pools<sup>13</sup>, municipal water works<sup>14</sup>, and flooding from a municipal reservoir<sup>15</sup>.

This brief look at the history of governmental immunity shows the arbitrariness involved in its application. The decisions do not seem to further the purpose of the doctrine; they tend only to show its lack of rationality. There seems to be no reasonable relationship between the particular classification and the supposed purpose of sovereign immunity. What discernable difference can there be between the operation of municipal golf course and a municipally operated swimming pool? Yet, the Court has held that immunity exists for the golf course<sup>16</sup>, but not for the swimming pool operation<sup>17</sup>. Clearly the distinction operates

---

<sup>8</sup>Hurst v. Highway Department, 16 Utah 2d 153, 397 P.2d 71 (1964).

<sup>9</sup>Johnson v. Salt Lake County Cottonwood Sanitation District, 20 Utah 2d 389, 438 P.2d 706 (1968).

<sup>10</sup>Rollow v. Ogden City, Note 2.

<sup>11</sup>Rollow, Note 2.

<sup>12</sup>Brown v. Salt Lake City, 33 Utah 222, 93 P. 570 (1908).

<sup>13</sup>Burton v. Salt Lake City, 69 Utah 186, 253 P.444 (1926).

<sup>14</sup>Brown, Note 12.

<sup>15</sup>Nestman v. South Davis County Water Improvement District, 16 Utah 2d 198, 398 P.2d 203 (1965).

<sup>16</sup>Jopes, Note 5, supra.

<sup>17</sup>Burton, Note 13, supra.

unequally as to people in similar circumstances.

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