1977

Thelma Madsen and Diana Lynn Madsen v. State of Utah et al : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

Third, appellants fail to present a compelling reason to abandon the traditional rational basis test for determining the constitutional validity of statutes based on the police power of the state. An analysis of the present case and applicable statute indicate that immunity from suit exists

Whenever an injury arises out of incarceration. Therefore, appellants' equal protection argument must fail.

B. THE UTAH GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY ACT IS CONSTITUTIONAL

The legislative and judicial acceptance of the doctrine of governmental immunity is overwhelming. While many jurisdictions, both state and federal, have waived governmental immunity for certain types of suits, few have completely abolished the doctrine.

The United States Supreme Court has continually reaffirmed acceptance of governmental immunity and has yet to hold that its effect on actions against the United States is unconstitutional. In Kwanakoa v. Polyblank, 205 U.S. 349, 27 S.Ct. 526 (1907), the Court held:

"A sovereign is exempt from suit, not because of any formal conception or absolute theory, but on the logical and practical grounds that there can be no legal right as against the authority that makes the law on which the right depends."

See also Minnesota v. United States, 305 U.S. 382 (1939), wherein the United States Supreme Court held that the exemption of the United States from being sued without its consent even extends to suits by the states, and stated that it rests with Congress to determine whether the United States may be sued. Id. at 387-388. See also, Manro v. United States, 203 U.S. 36 (1938).

Under the Federal Tort Claims Act, 28 U.S.C. §§ 1346(b), 2671-2680, the United States, like Utah, waives governmental immunity except in several specified areas (see §§ 2674, 2680). The United States Supreme Court, in dealing with the constitutionality, objectives, and effects of the Act, has always maintained the position that Congress does have the power to restrict the areas of possible governmental liability. In Dalehite v. United States, 346 U.S. 15, 73 S.Ct., 956 (1953), an action was brought against the United States for wrongful death under the Federal Tort Claims Act. Indicating its acceptance of and deference to the legislative purpose of Congress, the Court said of the Act:

"Turning to the interpretation of the Act, our reasoning as to its applicability to this disaster starts from the accepted jurisprudential principle that no action lies against the United States unless the legislature has authorized it. The language of the Act makes the United States liable 'respecting the provisions of this title relating to tort claims, in the same manner and to the same extent as a private individual under like circumstances.' 28 U.S.C. § 2674, 28 U.S.C.A. § 2674. This statute is another example of the progressive relaxation by legislative enactments of the rigor of the immunity rule. Through such statutes that change the law, organized government expresses the social purposes that motivate its legislation. Of course, these modifications are entitled to a construction that will accomplish their aim, that is, one that will carry out the legislative

purpose of allowing suits against the Government for negligence with due regard for the statutory exceptions to that policy. In interpreting the exceptions to the generality of the grant, courts include only those circumstances which are within the words and reason of the exception. They cannot do less since petitioners obtain their 'right to sue from Congress (and they) necessarily must take (that right) subject to such restrictions as have been imposed.' Federal Housing Administration v. Burr, 309 U.S. 242, 251, 60 S.Ct. 488, 493, 84 L.Ed. 724." (Emphasis added.)

See also: Brooks v. Tennessee, 406 U.S. 605, 92 S.Ct. 1891 (1972), and Indian Towing Company v. United States, 350 U.S. 61, 76 S.Ct. 122 (1955).

The Utah Governmental Immunity Act is very similar to the Federal Tort Claims Act because immunity is waived for negligent acts of employees except in those areas specifically exempted by statute, respondents submit, therefore, that the acceptance of this type of statutory approach to governmental immunity by the United States Supreme Court, supra, is controlling in the instant case.

Since Gillmor v. Salt Lake City, 32 Utah 180, 89 Pac. 714 (1907), this Court strongly supported the application of the governmental immunity doctrine to suits brought against the State of Utah. Citing Gillmor, supra, the Court in Alder v. Salt Lake City, 64 Utah 568, 231 Pac. 1102 (1924), stated:

"The principle of law controlling the liability of cities in such cases is laid down in *Gilmer v. Salt Lake City*, 32 Utah, 187, 89 P. 714, 12 L.R.A. (N.S.), 537, where this court cited with approval the following quotation from 20 A. & E. Enc. Law, 1193:

"The rule is generally that a municipal corporation is not liable for alleged tortious injuries to the persons or property of individuals, when engaged in the performance of public or governmental functions or duties. So far as municipal corporations exercise powers conferred on them for purposes essentially public, they stand, as does sovereignty whose agents they are, and are not liable to be sued for any act or omission occurring while in the exercise of such powers, unless by some statute the right of action be given. And, where the particular enterprise is purely a matter of public service for the general and common good, it makes no difference whether it is mandatory or whether only permitted and voluntarily undertaken."1 Id. at 1102-1103.

From the earlier cases to the present, this Court has consistently upheld the doctrine of governmental immunity, including its application in the Utah Governmental Immunity Act, as a viable defense to suit brought against the State.

-
1. This language clearly implies absolute immunity for the sovereign state, and only addressed the governmental versus proprietary distinction because the named defendant was a city corporation. In any event, the instant case involved state prison officers who were clearly engaged in the purely governmental function of prison operation.

See: Fairclough v. Salt Lake County, 10 Utah 2d 417, 354 P. 2d 105 (1960)²; Emery v. State, 26 Utah 2d 1, 483 P. 2d 1296 (1971); Anderson Investment Corp. v. State, 28 Utah 2d 379, 503 P. 2d 1022 (1972); Rosendaal Construction and Mining Corp. v. Holman, 28 Utah 2d 396, 503 P. 2d 446 (1972); Holt v. Utah State Road Commission, 30 Utah 2d 4, 511 P. 2d 1286 (1973); State Road Commission v. Tanner, 30 Utah 2d 19, 512 P. 2d 1022 (1973); Rapp v. Salt Lake City, Utah, 527 P. 2d 651 (1974); Greenhalgh v. Payson City, Utah, 533 P. 2d 799 (1975)³; and Epting v. State, 546 P. 2d 242 (1976).

On several previous occasions, this Court was presented with the identical request presented by appellants in the instant case, a request to abolish the Utah Governmental Immunity Act and the doctrine of governmental immunity as being unconstitutional, archaic, and no longer viable. On each occasion, the Court rejected the position.

In Davis v. Provo City Corporation, 1 Utah 2d 244, 265 P. 2d 415 (1953), the Court stated:

"The question of whether or not the doctrine of immunity from suit when the city is acting in its governmental capacity should be discarded entirely has been considered by this court several times with the majority concluding

2 The Fairclough opinion traces Utah case history up to 1900 on the issue of governmental immunity.

3 As a collateral matter, the Greenhalgh opinion discussed factors which are considered in determining the difference between a governmental and proprietary function and said that a primary factor is "whether the activity is something which is done for the general public good and which is generally regarded as a public responsibility" and "whether there is any special pecuniary benefit to the (city)." Clearly, under the above guidelines, the instant case involved a governmental rather than proprietary function.

that the matter was properly within the province of the legislature. There are valid reasons for protecting the municipality from vexations and groundless suits; the doctrine of immunity in absence of statute is ancient and well-established in our law; and limits of liability can be imposed by the legislature where we are powerless to do so. For these reasons we believe that the doctrine must be enforced until the time when the legislature takes action providing for the bringing of suits not encompassed in U.C.A. 1953, 10-7-77."

Likewise, in Ramirez v. Ogden City, 3 Utah 2d 102, 279 P. 2d 463 (1955), the Court held:

"From time to time certain judicial expressions have been uttered questioning the soundness of that rule as a matter of policy. Whatever its desirability or undesirability may be, it has long been firmly established in our law by rulings of the majority of this court. In deference to stare decisis, we do not now feel at liberty to consider its merits or demerits. Any change would be properly with the province of the Legislature."

In Campbell v. Pack, 15 Utah 2d 161, 389 P. 2d 464 (1964), in responding to a plaintiff's contention that the doctrine of governmental immunity should be changed, the Court held in a per curiam decision:

"With due deference to the authorities cited, and the reasoning set forth by them we are not persuaded of the propriety of judicially changing this rule, which is adhered to by a majority of our sister states. See Anno. 86 A.L.R. 2d 480, et seq. It has always been the law of this state and the activities, operations and contracts of the state government and other public

entities protected by it are based upon that understanding of the law. For the reasons set forth in the cases heretofore decided by this court referred to above, we believe that if there is to be a change which would have such an important effect upon public institutions and their operations, it should be left entirely to the legislature to determine whether the immunity should be removed; and as to what agencies; when effective, and to what extent, if any, limitations should be prescribed." Id. at 465.

Likewise, in Wilcox v. Salt Lake City Corp., 26 Utah 2d 78, 484 P. 2d 1200 (1971), a plaintiff asserted, as in the instant case, that the Utah Governmental Immunity Act should be abolished altogether". . . as being archaic and doing so judicially to legislate our Government Immunity Act out of existence." Justice Henriod, with Justices Callister, Tuckett, Ellett, and Crockett concurring, responded:

"This last contention we are not inclined to espouse, in spite of a claimed trend in that direction, noted by plaintiffs' adversions to scholarly papers written by eminent educators, and the judicial pronouncements of some sister states."

Counsel for appellants doing nothing new, and is doing nothing more than seeking judicial legislation, which the Utah Supreme Court has repeatedly refused to condone.

This Court has also cited sound policy reasons for supporting the doctrine of governmental immunity. In Blonquist v. Summit County, 25 Utah 2d 387, 481 P.2d 430 (1971), the Court noted:

"It is of great importance to public officials, to the governmental unit they act in behalf of, and even more important to the stability and efficiency of government, that public officials should not be held liable for damages for acts done in good faith in the performance of their duties where the exercise of any discretion is involved even though they may make a mistake in judgment. The general law is quite uniformly to that effect.

* * * It would be quite impractical and unfair to require them to act at their own risk. This would not only be disruptive of the proper functioning of public institutions, but undoubtedly would dissuade competent and responsible persons from accepting the responsibilities of public office. Accordingly, it is the settled policy of the law that when a public official acts in good faith, believing what he does to be within the scope of his authority and in the line of his duty, he is not liable for damages even if he makes a mistake in the exercise of his judgment." 483 P. 2d at 434, 436.

Likewise, in Sheffield v. Turner, 2 Utah 2d 314, 445 P. 2d 367 (1968), the Court stated that there is:

". . . the imperative need for those able in a supervisory capacity to have reasonable freedom to discharge the burdensome responsibilities of keeping in confinement and maintaining discipline of a large number of men who have been convicted of serious crime. If such officials are too vulnerable to lawsuits for anything untoward which may happen to inmates a number of evils follow, including a breakdown of discipline, and the fact that capable persons would be discouraged from taking such public positions."

An additional policy concern was expressed in McQuillin, Municipal Corporations, 3d Ed., Sec. 53.24:

"The reason (for immunity) as often expressed, is one of public policy, to protect public funds and public property.
"Taxes are raised for

certain specific governmental purposes; and, if they could be diverted to the payment of the damage claims, the more important work of government, which every municipality must perform regardless of its other relations, would be seriously impaired if not totally destroyed."

Respondents submit that there are additional compelling reasons for retention of immunity in situations such as the instant case. The modern trend in corrections is to rehabilitate inmates through vocational and educational training programs. Work release, school release, home visits, probation and parole are current methods used.

It is a practical impossibility to provide twenty-four hour guard supervision of inmates on such programs. Thus, if governmental immunity is not applied to protect these programs, they will have to be terminated. Secondly, the immunity frees the correctional employees from the fear of retaliation so as to allow them to function freely and give independent discharge of their duties, as stated in Sheffield.

Mention should be made of appellants' use of Brown v. Wichita State University, 217 Kan. 279, 540 P. 2d 66 (1975). The case was cited for the proposition that the Kansas Supreme Court voided the Kansas legislative provisions regarding governmental immunity as a violation

of equal protection. A careful reading of the case reveals that the only provisions voided were those dealing with the proprietary activities of government, i.e., those activities carried on for the specific benefit of a local community or which are generally performed by the private sector for profit.

"Having declared the doctrine governmental immunity as codified in K.S.A. 46-901, 902 to be constitutionally void, equality returns in regard to the responsibility of all levels of government in this state when engaged in proprietary activities. However, by equalizing responsibility we are confronted with the final question presented in this appeal. Is the transporting of football players, university personnel and interested alumni to a scheduled intercollegiate away football game a governmental or proprietary function?" (Emphasis added.)

The Kansas Supreme Court went on to state its acceptance of the doctrine of governmental immunity with respect to governmental activities, i.e., governmental activity carried on for the common good of the general public (e.g., the maintenance and operation of a state correctional facility).

"Nevertheless, we believe the governmental-proprietary distinction still has vitality. Implicit in the distinction is the recognition that it 'is not a tort for government to govern.' (Jackson, J., dissenting in Dalehite v. United States, 346 U.S. 15, 57, 73 S.Ct. 956, 979, 97 L. Ed. 1427.) Depending upon the facts and circumstances involved, the distinction can serve either

to place government in the shoes of the private tortfeasor, or to limit government liability. For example, under the distinction the state is not exposed to liability as to legislative or judicial action or inaction, or administrative action or inaction, of a legislative or judicial cast. Nor is the state liable in matters involving the exercise of official judgment or discretion. (Willis, et al v. Dept. of Cons. & Ec. Dev., 55 N.J. 534, 264 A.2d 34. See Wood v. Strickland, 420 U.S. 308, 95 S.Ct. 992, 43 L.Ed. 2d 214 (1975).)" (Emphasis added.)

See Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-3 (1953), which limits immunity to governmental functions.

POINT II

APPELLANTS' CAUSE OF ACTION AROSE OUT OF AN INCARCERATION AND THE STATE OF UTAH IS, THEREFORE, IMMUNE FROM LIABILITY UNDER UTAH CODE ANN., § 63-30-10(10) (1953).

As indicated in Point I, the Utah Governmental Immunity Act should be judicially construed so as to preserve the presumption of sovereign immunity intended by the legislature.

Utilizing this strict standard of construction, an examination must be made of Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-10(10). That statute provides, as follows:

"Immunity from suit of all governmental entities is waived for injury proximately caused by a negligent act or omission of

an employee committed within the scope of his employment except if the injury:

(10) arises out of the incarceration of any person in any state prison, county or city jail or other place of legal confinement. . . ." (Emphasis Added.)

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